CITY COUNCIL REGULAR MEETING AGENDA
JUNE 4, 2019

CLOSED SESSION: 6:00P.M. — 7:00 P.M.
OPEN SESSION: 7:00 P.M.

Notice is hereby given that the City Council will hold a Regular Meeting on June 4, 2019, at the City
Council Chambers, 1416 C Street, Livingston, California. Persons with disabilities who may need
assistance should contact the Deputy City Clerk at least 24 hours prior to this meeting at (209) 394-
8041, Ext. 121. Any writings or documents pertaining to an Open Session item provided to a majority
of the members of the legislative body less than 72 hours prior to the meeting shall be made available
for public inspection at Livingston City Hall, 1416 C Street. The Open Session will begin at 7:00 p.m.
the Closed Session will be held in accordance with the state law prior to the Open Session beginning
at 6:00 p.m. The Closed Session will be held at the City Council Chambers Located at 1416 C Street.
The agenda shall be as follows:

CLOSED SESSION

1. Callto Order
2. Roll Call

CLOSED SESSION

A “Closed” or “Executive” Session of the City Council may be held in accordance with state law which may include,
but is not limited to, the following types of items: personnel matters, labor negotiations, security matters, providing
instructions to real property negotiators, conference with legal counsel regarding pending litigation. The Closed
Session will be held in the City Council Chambers located at 1416 C Street, Livingston, California. Any public
comment on Closed Session items will be taken before the Closed Session. Any required announcements or discussion
of Closed Session items or actions following the Closed Session will be made in the City Council Chambers, 1416 C
Street, Livingston, California.



Conference with Real Property Negotiator

(Government Code Section 54956.8)

Real Property:

APN: 024-191-034-000

Negotiating Parties for City: Jose Antonio Ramirez, City Manager
Under Negotiation: Potential Property Sale

Conference with Labor Negotiator

(Government Code Section 54957.6)

Labor Negotiator: Jose Antonio Ramirez, City Manager

Employee Organizations: OE3 - Police Supervisory Employees Association.
OE3 - Management/Confidential Bargaining Unit

OE3 - Livingston Police Officer Association

AFSCME - Public Works and Parks Unit

All Represented and Unrepresented City Employees

Conference with Legal Counsel — Potential Litigation
(Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(2))
Number of Cases: 2

Conference with Legal Counsel — Existing Litigation
(Government Code Section 54956.9(d)(1))
Number of Cases: Livingston 75, L.P. vs. City of Livingston
Merced County Superior Court — Case No. 19CV-00930

REGULAR MEETING
CALL TO ORDER Next Resolution No
Next Ordinance No
Pledge of Allegiance.
Roll Call.

Closed Session Announcements.

Changes to the Agenda.

AWARDS, PRESENTATIONS, PROCLAMATIONS

1.

ANNOUNCEMENTS AND REPORTS

Supervisor Rodrigo Espinoza Announcements and Reports.

.. 2019-28
.. 639

Ceremonial swearing-in of Second Alternate Planning Commissioner Wapinder Kang by City
Clerk Antonio Silva.

Presentation by Matt Fell, Transportation Planning Manager, Merced County Association of
Governments: Measure V Presentation.
(Measure V Open House from 6:30 p.m. to 7:00 p.m. at City Council Chambers)

Presentation by Happy Bains, Sr. Accountant, City of Livingston: Presentation of 2019/2020
Proposed Budget.



City Staff Announcements and Reports.
City Manager Announcements and Reports.
City Council Members’ Announcements and Reports.
Mayor’s Announcements and Reports.
PUBLIC HEARINGS

4. Public Hearing- First Reading and Introduction of Ordinance Approving the Fourth Amendment
to the Development Agreement between the City of Livingston and JEG Livingston Ranches,
LLC, Concerning 15.9 Acres Northeast of the Intersection of Robin Avenue and “B” Street,
Livingston, CA.

5. Public Hearing — Resolution Approving Site Plan and Design Review 2019-01 for the Conversion
of Existing Car Wash into a Restaurant at Brothers Food Mart site at the Southeast Corner of
Walnut Avenue and Hammatt Avenue; APN#: 023-070-011.

CITIZEN COMMENTS

This section of the agenda allows members of the public to address the City Council on any item NOT otherwise on
the agenda. Members of the public, when recognized by the Mayor, should come forward to the lectern, and identify
themselves. Comments are normally limited to three (3) minutes. In accordance with State Open Meeting Laws, no
action will be taken by the City Council this evening. For items which are on the agenda this evening members of
the public will be provided an opportunity to address the City Council as each item is brought up for discussion.

CONSENT AGENDA

Items on the Consent Calendar are considered routine or non-controversial and will be enacted by one vote, unless
separate action is requested by the City Manager or City Council Member. There will be no separate discussion of
these items unless members of the City Council or City Manager request that specific items be removed.

6. Initiating Proceedings and Ordering the Preliminary Engineer’s Report for the Annual Levy of
Assessments for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 for the Citywide Consolidated Landscape Maintenance
Assessment District No. 1, Approving the Engineer’s Report, Declaring the City’s Intention to
Levy Annual Assessments for the District, and Appointing a Time and Place for a Public
Hearing.

7. Initiating Proceedings and Ordering the Preliminary Engineer’s Report for the Annual Levy of
Assessment for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 for the Livingston Benefit Assessment District, Approving
the Engineer’s Report, Declaring the City’s Intention to Levy Annual Assessments Within Such
Districts and Appointing a Time and Place for a Public Hearing.

8. City Council to Support all Punjabi and other Indian Related Activities at Livingston High
School.

9. Approval of Minutes of Meeting Held on April 2, 2019.

10. Approval of Minutes of Meeting Held on May 7, 2019.



11. Approval of Warrant Register Dated May 20, 2019.
12. Approval of Warrant Register Dated May 28, 2019.
DISCUSSION AND POTENTIAL ACTION ITEMS
13. Resolution Authorizing the City Manager to Sign and File an Application to the San Joaquin
x:g;)lleéir Pollution Control District (STVAPCD) for the Purchase of a New Alternative Fuel

14. Approve a contract with R.L. Friend Construction, Inc. for rehabilitation improvements for the
Walnut Lift Station.

ADJOURNMENT



STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: Public Hearing — First Reading and Introduction of Ordinance Approving
the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement between the City of
Livingston and JEG Livingston Ranches, LLC, Concerning 15.9 Acres
Northeast of the Intersection of Robin Avenue and “B” Street, Livingston,
CA

MEETING DATE:  June 4, 2019
PREPARED BY: Randy Hatch, Contract City Planner

REVIEWED BY: Jose Antonio Ramirez, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION:

Council Introduce the first reading of Ordinance ___, Approving the Fourth Amendment to the
Development Agreement between the City of Livingston and JEG Livingston Ranches, LLC, concerning
15.9 acres northeast of the intersection of Robin Avenue and “B” Street, Livingston, CA.

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION:

The applicant, Joseph Gallo Farms, has received Planning Commission approval to divide the 15.9-acre
property into 9 parcels varying from .96 to 2.0 acres in size and 1 remainder parcel currently and proposed
to continue to be used as a drainage basin for the Project and the commercial area to the east. The existing
Joseph Gallo Drive is to continue west providing access to the property linking it to Winton Parkway on
the east and Robin Avenue on the west. Two new streets are to provide access to the proposed parcels with
Del Rio Avenue to the north and Bella Vista Court to the south. Full improvements of streets, curbs and
gutters, sidewalks, sewer lines, and drainage are provided to all parcels. The nine parcels vary in size from
2 lots at 0.96 acre in size with one at 2.0 acre being the largest. The balances of the 6 remaining parcels
are roughly 1 acre in size. As noted, the remainder parcel is used as a drainage basin and is 2.01 acres in
size. The varying sizes allow for varying users which could include a wide variety of commercial activities
and uses appropriate to highway locations as envisioned by the zoning designation.

No specific uses are identified at this time. This subdivision creates an inventory of finished lots available
for future development. It is desirable for the City to contain a variety of finished lots available for
development to be able to take advantage of economic development opportunities. The City Municipal
Code requires the future uses to obtain a Site Plan and Design Review approval first from the Planning
Commission and then the City Council.

As part of the subdivision map approval Condition of Approval Number 16 stated, “Subdivider shall
construct or shall cause the construction of a perimeter CMU-block wall on “B” Street and Robin Avenue
along the subdivision street frontages. The proposed block wall shall match existing perimeter walls or
meet City standards per the City Engineer and City Planner. The construction of the perimeter wall shall
be required for Project or development of individual parcels.” The Third Amendment to the Development
Agreement between the City of Livingston and JEG Livingston Ranches LLC was also approved at the
time of Tentative Subdivision Map approval. The Third Amendment extended the term of the original

1



Development Agreement 10 years from the approval date of the Third Amendment. It established the list
of development fees the Project is subject to and in what manner those fees may increase over time. It
established the reimbursement credit amount due to the developer and clarified when the deed for well 15
would be executed. It established the standards and conditions applicable to the Project and further
defined that the Project incorporated conditions of Project approval and environmental mitigations as part
of the Project. This last feature incorporated Condition of Approval Number 16 into the Third
Amendment to the Development Agreement.

Because of the Condition requiring CMU block wall, this wall (or a bond for the wall) must be constructed
and in place before the Tentative Map can be finalized and the lots legally created and available for sale.
Gallo requested a modification of this Condition so it would be required at the time the lot is developed.
As noted above, the City Code requires the end user of the lot(s) to obtain a Site Plan Design Review
approval prior to obtaining a building permit or any other authorization to use the lot in the course of
business. Gallo is requesting that during the Site Plan/Design Review approval is the time to require the
construction of the CMU block wall and that Condition of Approval Number 16 and the Development
Agreement be modified to reflect this.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

Modification of a Condition of Approval for an approved Tentative Map and approval of a Fourth
Amendment to the Gallo Development Agreement is a “Project” subject to review under the California
Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). The original Tentative Map application and the original Third
Amendment to the Development Agreement was the subject of an Initial Study prepared by an
environmental consultant hired by Gallo. Gallo representatives prepared an Initial Study which reviewed
the “Project” per the standards and criteria of CEQA and determined whether the “Project” would result in
any significant environmental effects. The applicant prepared these documents and they were reviewed in
detail by City staff and, after City editing, they represented the independent analysis and judgment of the
City. These documents were circulated to various City departments, other agencies and organizations, and
the State Clearinghouse, and made available for public review and comment for 39 days (more than the 30
days listed in the State CEQA Guidelines) starting July 19, 2017, through August 25, 2017. All this was
done in compliance with CEQA rules and procedures. A Mitigated Negative Declaration was adopted and
approved by the City. The modification of the timing of the construction of the CMU block wall is minor
in nature and has no effect on any impacts of the Project or mitigation measures adopted for the Project.
All mitigation measures are still being implemented and will occur before any development on the lots
takes place. Therefore, this proposed modification is within the scope of the approved Mitigated Negative
Declaration. No further environmental review and analysis is needed.

ANALYSIS:

The property is vacant except for the 2-acre drainage basin on the remainder parcel which serves future
commercial development in this Phase 2 project and also serves existing development in the adjacent

Phase 1 commercial development. The property is properly General Planned and Zoned for continued
commercial development. The proposal complies with both the Land Use Element Objective 3.1A
providing for a well-balanced mix of commercial uses which create and maintain a high quality
environment and a fiscally sound community, and with Commercial Land Use Objective 3.3A ensuring for
the provision of adequate commercial shopping opportunities and office space locations to meet anticipated
needs. The proposal is consistent with Commercial Land Use Policy 1d as it pertains to Highway
Commercial uses which, due to space requirements, the proximity to the highway, or the distinctive nature
of their operation, are not compatible with or are not usually located in other commercial designations.

The anticipated uses that will locate in the Gallo Project area are expected to require larger lot sizes that are
not readily available elsewhere in the commercial areas of the City and may need closer access to Highway

2



99. Further, the zoning of the area of C-3, Highway Service Commercial, requires new development to
obtain a Site Plan/Design Review approval from both the Planning Commission and the City Council to
implement Land Use Element 3.1 policies 6 and 12 which require detailed review of new uses to identify
and ensure compliance with a variety of issues and standards. The environmental review of this proposal,
as discussed above, documents that all potential impacts from this division of property and the eventual
commercial development of the lots will have no significant impacts that have not been eliminated or
mitigated. The development of these new commercial lots will provide benefits to the City and its
residents in terms of additional commercial services available, increased employment opportunities
available from the new businesses, and increased tax revenue to the City to maintain and enhance City
services.

It should again be noted that the eventual development on these new lots will be subject to review and
approval by the City via a Site Plan/Design Review Permit or, if needed, by a Use Permit. The tentative
subdivision map provides for all required easements for utilities to serve development on the parcels. The
changes to the Project and mitigations referenced above provides for needed right-of-way and turning
restrictions to insure safe turning movements and as efficient traffic flow as possible.

FISCAL IMPACT:

A positive impact is expected from the new employment opportunities as a result of new businesses
locating on these new lots. Additional taxable sales and property taxes would also occur from these new
businesses and the Project would provide needed street improvements in this area, particularly the
completion of Joseph Gallo Drive through to Robin Avenue.

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning Commission held a Public Hearing on this request to modify Condition of Approval Number
16 and to approve a Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement on May 14, 2019. The Planning
Commission is the approving body (unless appealed) for the modification of Conditions of Approval to the
Tentative Subdivision Map and makes recommendation to the City Council on the Fourth Amendment to
the Development Agreement. The Planning Commission considered the request including any effect on
the environment per CEQA. The applicant representative appeared at the Public Hearing and presented
their request and answered questions from the Commission. A few members of the public were present
and asked questions about the request. The Commission felt the request was reasonable and minor in
nature. The Commission felt that the proposed subdivision and resulting development would be an asset
and beneficial to the community. The Commission determined that the modification of Condition of
Approval Number 16 and associated Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement would facilitate
this development and insure it would be consistent with the area and provide needed services to the
community. This project will construct needed roadway extensions and improvements. These lots will
allow for additional commercial development opportunities in the City. The Planning Commission
recommends the City Council introduce and finally approve the Ordinance approving the Fourth
Amendment to the Development Agreement, based on the Findings contained within the Ordinance itself.

ATTACHMENTS:
___, Introducing the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement

Exhibit A — Fourth Amendment to Development Agreement
2. Project Location and Zoning Map

1. Ordinance-



ORDINANCE NO.

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON
APPROVING THE FOURTH AMENDMENT TO THE DEVELOPMENT
AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON AND
JEG LIVINGSTON RANCHES LLC

The City Council of the City of Livingston does ordain as follows:

Section 1. Purpose and Declarations

A. In order to strengthen the public planning process, encourage private participation in
comprehensive planning and reduce the economic risk of development, the Legislature of the State of
California adopted Section 65864, et seq., of the Government Code (the “Development Agreement
Statute”), authorizing the City, and any person having a legal or equitable interest in the real property, to
enter into a development agreement and establish certain development rights in the property, which is the
subject of the development project application. Pursuant to Government Code section 65868,
Development Agreements may be amended by mutual assent of the parties.

B. On December 1, 1997, the City and Joseph Gallo (hereinafter “Gallo™), as the developer
of real property located within the City of Livingston, entered into a Development Agreement regarding
certain real property (the “1997 Development Agreement”). Gallo has developed the subject property
(“1997 Property”), pursuant to the 1997 Development Agreement.

C. Developer assumed all rights and responsibilities under the 1997 Development
Agreement from Gallo.

D. On April 19, 2005, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended (the “First
Amendment”) to add an additional project and specific conditions relating to the fees applicable to the
new project.

E. On June 6, 2006, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended a second time
(“Second Amendment”) to revise the terms and conditions affecting only the project described in both the
First and Second Amendment.

F. On June 5, 2018, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended a third time (“Third
Amendment”) to remove property within the project that was no longer bound by or subject to the 1997
Development Agreement or its amendments and rescinding the First and Second Amendments to the
1997 Development Agreement. The Third Amendment also added new property within the project
description of the 1997 Development Agreement and conditioned the new property to several other
requirements.

G. After entering into the Third Amendment, the Developer and the City engaged in
discussions regarding the new requirements. The Developer asked the City for some changes to the
conditions, clarifying the requirement to construct a perimeter CMU-block wall on “B” Street and Robin
Avenue along the subdivision street frontages. The Developer also requested flexibility in deadlines for
certain conditions of approval. This Fourth Amendment clarifies the condition and adds additional
flexibility.

H. On May 14, 2019, at a duly-noticed public hearing, the City’s Planning Commission
considered the Fourth Amendment. Following due consideration, the Planning Commission
recommended to the City Council approval of the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement.

1



L. On February 13, 2018, the City Council approved a Mitigated Negative Declaration for
the Gallo Commercial Center, Phase 2, Tentative Subdivision Map and Third Amendment to the
Development Agreement between the City of Livingston and JEG Livingston Ranches, LLC and
determined the Project will not have a significant effect on the environment. The modification of the
timing of construction of the CMU block wall is minor in nature and has no effect on any impacts of the
Project or mitigation measures adopted for the Project. All mitigation measures are still being
implemented and will occur before any development on the lots takes place. Therefore, this proposed
modification is within the scope of the approved Mitigated Negative Declaration. No further
environmental review and analysis is needed.

J. On , 2019, the City Council, as the legislative body for purposes of
Development Agreement approval, held a properly noticed public hearing pursuant to Government Code
section 65867 regarding the Fourth Amendment and considered all comments received in writing and all
testimony received at the public hearing.

Section 2. Findings

The City Council hereby finds as follows based on the recitals above, staff reports and other information
contained in the Planning Department files for the Fourth Amendment to the 1997 Development Agreement
which are incorporated herein by reference and available for review during normal business hours at the
Livingston City Hall, 1416 C Street, Livingston, CA.

1. All the recitals above are true and correct and incorporated herein by reference.

2. The City Council received and considered the Planning Commission recommendation to approve the
Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement, at a duly noticed public hearing.

3. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement is consistent with the goals, objectives, and
policies of the City’s General Plan.

4. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement is compatible with the uses authorized in,
and the regulations prescribed for, the land use district in which the real property is located.

5. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement will not be detrimental to the public health,
safety, or welfare of the community.

6. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement will promote the public convenience,
general welfare, and good land use practices, and is in the best interest of the community.

7. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement will not adversely affect the orderly
development of property or the preservation of property values.

8. The Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement will promote and encourage the
development of the land by providing a greater degree of requisite certainty.

9. The environmental impacts of the Fourth Amendment to the 1997 Development Agreement and its
enacting ordinance were fully evaluated by staff. On February 13, 2018, the City Council approved a
Mitigated Negative Declaration for the Gallo Commercial Center, Phase 2, Tentative Subdivision
Map and Third Amendment to the Development Agreement between the City of Livingston and JEG
Livingston Ranches, LLC and determined the Project will not have a significant effect on the



environment. The modification of the timing of construction of the CMU block wall is minor in
nature and has no effect on any impacts of the Project or mitigation measures adopted for the Project.
All mitigation measures are still being implemented and will occur before any development on the
lots takes place. Therefore, this proposed modification is within the scope of the approved Mitigated
Negative Declaration. No further environmental review and analysis is needed.

Section 3. Approval

Based on the recitals and findings above and considering the entire record of proceedings, the City Council
hereby approves the Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement, attached to this Ordinance and
incorporated herein by reference as Exhibit A, and authorizes the City Manager to sign the Development
Agreement Amendment after the effective date of this Ordinance.

Section 4. Effective Date and Publication. This Ordinance shall be published once within fifteen (15) days
after its adoption in a newspaper of general circulation in the City of Livingston. This ordinance shall take
effect thirty (30) days after adoption and the title thereof shall be published once prior to adoption.

Section S. Severability. If any section, subsection, subdivision, paragraph, sentence, clause or phrase of the
Ordinance is for any reason held to be unconstitutional, invalid, or ineffective by any court of competent
Jurisdiction, such decision shall not affect the validity or effectiveness of the remaining portions of this
Ordinance or any part hereof. The City Council hereby declares that it would have passed each section of the
Ordinance irrespective of the fact that one or more of them would be declared unconstitutional or invalid. To
this end, the provisions of the Ordinance are declared to be severable.

Introduced: June 4, 2019

Passed and Adopted: ,2019
GURPAL SAMRA, Mayor
of the City of Livingston
ATTEST:
State of California )
County of Merced )
City of Livingston )

I hereby certify that the foregoing Ordinance was duly introduced at a Regular Meeting of the City
Council of the City of Livingston on the 4" day of June, 2019 and was passed and adopted at a Regular
Meeting of the City Council of the City of Livingston this day of , 2019, by the following
vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:

ANTONIO SILVA, City Clerk
of the City of Livingston
1396.2001 3214781.4



EXHIBIT “A”



OFFICIAL BUSINESS
Document entitled to free recording
Government Code Section 6103

RECORDING REQUESTED BY AND
WHEN RECORDED, MAIL TO:

City of Livingston
1416 C Street
Livingston, CA 95334
Attn: City Clerk

(SPACE ABOVE THIS LINE RESERVED FOR RECORDER'’S USE)

FOURTH AMENDMENT TO DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT
BETWEEN THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON AND
JEG LIVINGSTON RANCHES, LLC

This Fourth Amendment to the Development Agreement (this “Fourth
Amendment’), is made and entered into on the day of , 2019, by and
between the City of Livingston, a California municipal corporation (“City”), and JEG
Livingston Ranches, LLC, a California limited liability company (“Developer”). City and
Developer are hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Parties,” and singularly as a

“Party.”
RECITALS

A. In order to strengthen the public planning process, encourage private
participation in comprehensive planning and reduce the economic risk of development,
the Legislature of the State of California adopted Section 65864, et seq., of the
Government Code (the “Development Agreement Statute”), authorizing a city, and any
person having a legal or equitable interest in real property, to enter into a Development
Agreement and establish certain development rights in the property, which is the subject
of the development project application. Pursuant to Government Code section 65868,
Development Agreements may be amended by mutual assent of the parties.

B. On December 1, 1997, the City and Joseph Gallo (hereinafter “Gallo”), as
the developer of real property located within the City of Livingston, entered into a
Development Agreement regarding certain real property (the “1997 Development
Agreement”). Gallo has developed the subject property (“1997 Property”), pursuant to
the 1997 Development Agreement.

C. Developer assumed all rights and responsibilities under the 1997
Development Agreement from Gallo.

D. On April 19, 2005, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended (the
“‘First Amendment’) to add an additional project and specific conditions relating to the
fees applicable to the new project.



E. On June 6, 2006, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended a
second time (“Second Amendment’) to revise the terms and conditions affecting only
the project described in both the First and Second Amendment.

F. On June 5, 2018, the 1997 Development Agreement was amended a third
time (“Third Amendment”) to remove property within the project that was no longer
bound by or subject to the 1997 Development Agreement or its amendments and
rescinding the First and Second Amendments to the 1997 Development Agreement.
The Third Amendment also added new property within the project description of the
1997 Development Agreement and conditioned the new property to several other
requirements.

G. After entering into the Third Amendment, the Developer and the City
engaged in discussions regarding the new requirements. The Developer asked the City
for some changes to the conditions, clarifying the requirement to construct a perimeter
CMU-block wall on “B” Street and Robin Avenue along the subdivision street frontages.
The Developer also requested flexibility in deadlines for certain conditions of approval.
This Fourth Amendment clarifies the condition and adds additional flexibility.

H. On May 14, 2019, at a duly-noticed public hearing, the City’s Planning
Commission considered the Fourth Amendment. Following due consideration, the
Planning Commission recommended to the City Council approval of the Fourth
Amendment to the Development Agreement.

l. On February 13, 2018, the City Council approved a Mitigated Negative
Declaration for the Gallo Commercial Center, Phase2, Tentative Subdivision Map and
Third Amendment to the Development Agreement between the City of Livingston and
JEG Livingston Ranches, LLC and determined the Project will not have a significant
effect on the environment. The modification of the timing of construction of the CMU
block wall is minor in nature and has no effect on any impacts of the Project or
mitigation measures adopted for the Project. All mitigation measures are still being
implemented and will occur before any development on the lots takes place. Therefore,
this proposed modification is within the scope of the approved Mitigated Negative
Declaration. No further environmental review and analysis is needed

J. On , 2019, the City Council, as the legislative body
for purposes of Development Agreement approval, held a properly noticed public
hearing pursuant to Government Code section 65867 regarding the Fourth Amendment
and its environmental document and considered all comments received in writing and all
testimony received at the public hearing.

AGREEMENT

1. Incorporation of Recitals. Recitals A through J are hereby incorporated
herein, including the documents referenced in the Recitals.



2. Amendments to the Standards and Conditions Imposed by the Third
Amendment. Section VIiI (E), titled “2017 STANDARDS AND CONDITIONS,” of the

1997 Development Agreement, which was added by the Third Amendment Section VIl|
(E) (16) is amended to clarify that the obligation to construct a perimeter CMU-block on
“B” Street and Robin Avenue along the subdivision street frontages is the responsibility
of the ultimate builder of the parcels located on “B” Street and Robin Avenue along the
subdivision street frontages. Section VIII (E) (16) is amended to read as follows:

“(16) The ultimate builder(s) of the parcels located on “B” Street
and Robin Avenue shall construct a perimeter CMU-block wall on
“B” Street and Robin Avenue along the subdivision street frontages.
The proposed block wall shall match existing perimeter walls or
meet City standards per the City Engineer and City Planner. The
construction of the perimeter wall shall be required for project or
development of individual parcels and shall be imposed at the Site
Plan/Design Review stage.”

3. Flexibility Regarding Timing for Certain Improvements or Portions of
Improvements. The City Manager shall have the discretion to defer the required
improvements, or portions thereof, under the following Sections of the 1997
Development Agreement: Sections VIl (E) (19), (20), (23), (24), and (32). The
conditions covered under these Sections are attached hereto as Exhibit A. Timing for
the improvements under these Sections will be at the discretion of the City Manager. All
other standards and conditions under Section VIII (E) shall remain in full force and effect
as required under the Third Amendment.

4. All Other Terms in Force. Except as amended by this Fourth
Amendment, all terms and conditions of the 1997 Development Agreement and the
Third Amendment remain in full force and effect.

5. Recording. Within ten (10) days after the Effective Date, City shall record
this Fourth Amendment with the Merced County Recorder’s Office.

6. Counterparts. The Parties may execute this Fourth Amendment in
counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which will constitute
the same instrument.

7. Entire Agreement. The 1997 Development Agreement, the Third
Amendment, and this Fourth Amendment set forth the Parties’ entire understanding
regarding the matters set forth above. It supersedes all prior or contemporaneous
agreements, representations, and negotiations regarding those matters (whether
written, oral, express, or implied) and may be modified only by another written
agreement signed by all Parties. This Fourth Amendment will control if any conflict
arises between it, the 1997 Development Agreement, and the Third Amendment.



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the City of Livingston, a municipal corporation, has
authorized the execution of this Fourth Amendment in duplicate by its City Manager and

attested to by its City Clerk under the authority of Ordinance No. , adopted by
the Council of the City on the day of , 2019, and Developer has caused
this Fourth Amendment to be executed.

“‘CITY” ‘DEVELOPER’

CITY OF LIVINGSTON, JEG LIVINGSTON RANCHES, LLC,

a municipal corporation a California limited liability company

By: By:

Name: Jose A. Ramirez Name:

its: City Manager Its:

ATTEST:

Antonio Silva, City Clerk

APPROVED AS TO FORM:

Jose M. Sanchez, City Attorney

Exhibit A: Standards and Conditions

3214616.6



MODIFICATION OF CONDITION OF APPROVAL NUMBER 16 OF THE APPROVED
GALLO TENTATIVE SUBDIVISION MAP 2017-01

Zoning: C-3, Highway Service Commercial

WOoD OR

T e

Z- PARAD\SE DR E SHEEed
@3 s | LT SEEE S LESIES)
2 o =5 R AP 25 5 B S




STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: Public Hearing — Resolution Approving Site Plan and Design Review
2019-01 for the Conversion of Existing Car Wash into a Restaurant at
Brothers Food Mart site at the Southeast Corner of Walnut Avenue and
Hammatt Avenue; APN#: 023-070-011

MEETING DATE:  June 4, 2019

PREPARED BY: Randy Hatch, Contract City Planner

REVIEWED BY: Jose Antonio Ramirez, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION:

Council adopt a Resolution approving Site Plan and Design Review 2019-01 for conversion of the
existing car wash into a restaurant at Brothers Food Mart site at the southeast corner of Walnut Avenue
and Hammatt Avenue (APN #: 023-070-011).

BACKGROUND AND DISCUSSION:

Owner and applicant, Nukul K. Bassi, is proposing to convert an existing car wash into a restaurant and
add new landscaping adjacent to the new restaurant. The proposed restaurant will be called Los Gordos
Mexican Restaurant. The existing 1,250 sq. ft. car wash building will have the drive through car wash
area converted into a kitchen and the dining area. The dining area is approximately 308 sq. ft. in size. The
kitchen will be approximately 322 sq. ft. with an adjacent roughly 172 sq. ft. utility / prep area. Two
existing restrooms will remain as well as an interior storage area. The entrance will be on the west side of
the building via a glass storefront door with side windows. On the east side will be a utility door
providing access to the utility / kitchen. Also on the east side is a walk-up window for pass thru service
for takeout orders. The dumpster is located about 24 feet east of the takeout window. The building itself
is a single store flat roof structure approximately 13 ft. high with a 2-foot wide parapet feature, all
finished in stucco. The elevation submitted as part of the application shows space for signage on the east,
north, and west elevations.

The existing site is developed with the gas station and food mart with paving and 16 parking spaces. The
existing gas station and food mart requires 8 parking spaces. The proposed restaurant with a 308 square
foot dining / customer area requires 6 parking spaces (1 per 50 sq. ft.). This calculates to a total of 14
parking spaces needed for all the uses on the property; 16 parking spaces are provided exceeding Code
requirements.

Access to the new restaurant will be provided via the adjacent streets, Hammatt and Walnut Avenues
through the existing curb cuts / driveways. The new restaurant will connect to existing water, wastewater,
storm drain, electrical, gas and communication utilities that are located onsite.

A roughly 650 square foot landscape area will be provided on the east side of the restaurant. A
preliminary landscape plan is provided and shows heavy planting of rockrose and abelia shrubs with a
ground cover. These are drought tolerant landscape materials and are on the City’s list of suggested
shrubs.



The buildings proposed to be constructed are low slung composed of a stucco finish with parapet style
trim band along the roof line. The proposed restaurant will match the existing gas station / food mart in
terms of finish materials and colors; therefore, the stucco will be white with the parapet roof band green.

The Planning Commission is the recommending body for a Site Plan and Design Review with the City
Council being the approving body. Therefore, this proposal must go before both bodies.

ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW:

The conversion of the existing car wash building to a restaurant is a “Project” subject to review under the
California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA). This Project qualifies for a Categorical Exemption under
two provisions; Class 3 — conversion of a small structure with only minor modifications; and Class 32
infill development within the City Limits consistent with the General Plan and Zoning Ordinance,
provided by all utilities and City services, no more than 5 acres in size on land with no value as habitat for
endangered, rare, or threatened species. The site is within a developed urban location and complies with
all of the above listed conditions to qualify for both of these categorical exemptions. Further, this
development would be a minor additional use on the property with no significant effects relating to

traffic, noise, air, or water quality.

ANALYSIS:

The property is properly General Planned and Zoned for such a use. The requested use, as proposed and
conditioned, meets the development standards in the City’s Zoning and Development Codes. The use
meets the height, setback, and lot coverage requirements. As noted in the Project description above, the
development provides 16 parking spaces exceeding the City’s parking requirements for a gas station with
food mart and restaurant.

The preliminary landscape plan submitted shows shrubs and ground cover to be used for this Project.
Staff review of the plant materials verifies that the proposed plants are drought tolerant and consistent
with the City list of recommended plant materials. Potential sign areas proposed comply with City
standards and will be reviewed and approved administratively. Exterior lighting is not addressed leading
staff to recommend a condition of approval to require lighting to be shielded and focused on the building
and parking areas. The City has a Design Guide applicable to all new development. Staff has compared
the proposed new building’s design and colors, as described above, with the Design Guide. The overall
design of the new building appears to be consistent with the Design Guide in terms of being compatible in
scale with the surrounding area and providing visual interest.

PLANNING COMMISSION ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATION:

The Planning Commission held a Public Hearing on this request for a Site Plan and Design Review on
May 14, 2019. The applicant’s representative appeared at the Hearing and presented their request and
answered questions from the Commission. There were a few questions from the public asked and
answered. The Commission asked questions and included three additional Conditions of Approval to
address outdoor dining, parking signage and outdoor lighting. The Commission felt that the proposed
restaurant would be an asset to the east side of the City and would help facilitate the development of the
Hammatt interchange / State Route 99 area. The Planning Commission recommended approval to the
City Council subject to the proposed attached Conditions of Approval.



FISCAL IMPACT:

The project would increase property and sales taxes to the City and would provide additional employment
opportunities. Just as important, this project would help provide restaurant options to this side of the City
and would help develop the City’s commercial areas adjacent to this freeway interchange.

RECOMMENDATION:

Staff is of the opinion that the proposed new restaurant would be an asset to the area and beneficial to the
City. A new restaurant provides for increased economic benefits providing employment and taxes to the
City. Staff feels the site layout and building, as proposed and as conditioned, complies with all the
requirements and standards applicable. Staff joins the Planning Commission in recommending adoption
of the proposed Resolution 2019-__, approving Site Plan and Design Review 2019-01, based on the
Findings and Conditions of Approval contained in the attached resolution.

ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution 2019-

Exhibit “A”, Conditions of Approval
2. Project Location and Zoning Map
3. Site Plan, Floor Plan, and Elevations



RESOLUTION 2019-

RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON
APPROVING SITE PLAN AND DESIGN REVIEW 2019-01
FOR THE CONVERSION OF A CAR WASH INTO A RESTAURANT AT BROTHERS FOOD
MART AT THE SOUTHEAST CORNER OF WALNUT AND HAMMATT AVENUES

WHEREAS, pursuant to Livingston Municipal Code (“LMC”) section 5-6-7, Nukul K. Bassi, owner and
applicant, has applied for a Site Plan and Design Review approval to convert a car wash into a restaurant
at 690 Hammatt Avenue, (APN 023-070-011), in the City of Livingston; and

WHEREAS, the site is zoned C-3 (Highway Services Commercial), and has a General Plan designation
of HC (Highway Commercial) according to the official zoning map of the City of Livingston and the
1999 Livingston General Plan; and

WHEREAS, LMC Section 5-6-7 requires the approval of a Site Plan and Design Review for new
structures and expansion to existing facilities within the C-3 district to assure compatibility, harmony in
appearance in neighborhoods, reduction of negative impacts of nonaesthetic development, and orderly
development of the community; and

WHEREAS, a public hearing for the proposed project has been properly noticed by posting, a newspaper
ad, and a mailing to adjacent properties within 300 feet of the site; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has considered the environmental effects of the project and has
determined, based on the evidence contained within the associated staff report, that this project qualifies
for the Conversion of a Small Structure with only minor modifications Categorical Exemption (CEQA
Guidelines Section 15301) and the In-Fill Categorical Exemption, (CEQA Guidelines Section 15332);
and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed the project with reference to the 1999 General Plan, the
Zoning Ordinance (specifically Sections 5-6-7 “C” thru “E”) and the adopted Livingston Design
Guidelines; and finds that, based on the evidence documented within the associated staff report and
proceedings of the public hearing, the proposed use, its site plan and design, is consistent with the General
Plan, complies with the Zoning Ordinance in that the site plan and design meets the zoning standards and
requirements (including those specifically referenced above), and meets the intent and guidance of the
Livingston Design Guidelines; and

WHEREAS, the City Council has reviewed and considered any and all comments on the Site Plan and
Design Review made at the public hearing.

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Livingston City Council hereby adopts Resolution
2019-___, approving the Site Plan and Design of the subject new development.

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that the Conditions of Approval within City Council Resolution
2019-___, Exhibit A, (attached), are hereby approved.



Passed and adopted this 4™ day of June, 2019, by the following vote:

AYES:
NOES:
ABSENT:
ABSTAIN:
Gurpal Samra, Mayor
of the City of Livingston
ATTEST:

I hereby certify that the foregoing resolution was regularly introduced, passed, and adopted at a regular
meeting of the City Council of the City of Livingston this 4® day of June, 2019.

Antonio Silva, City Clerk
of the City of Livingston



10.

11.

Exhibit A
Conditions of Approval

The Developer shall comply with all federal, state and local laws, policies, standards and
requirements applicable to this use and obtain a building permit and all other permits applicable _
to this use and shall pay all fees and exactions applicable to such a use; and

The Developer shall submit improvement plans for site modifications including, but not limited
to, ADA accessibility, utilities, hardscape, storm drainage, landscaping and irrigation, site
lighting, and erosion control; and

The Developer shall comply with all requirements of the Merced County Fire Department; and

The Developer shall obtain any needed grading and encroachment permits for the project paying
the permit fees, plan check and inspection fees, and furnish improvement securities pursuant to
the City’s improvement standards, municipal code, and ordinances; and

The Developer shall pay all applicable development impact fees for Municipal Facilities, Police,
Fire Protection, Streets and Bridges, Water, Domestic Wastewater, Storm Drainage, and Parks;
and

The Developer shall submit any improvement plans to conform to the latest edition of the City of
Livingston Improvement Standards and all applicable state, federal, and local laws and
regulations; and

Unless exempt, the Developer shall prepare a Storm Water Pollution Prevention Plan (SWPPP)
pursuant to the California Water Control Board Order No. 2009-0009-DWQ, NPDES No. CA
000002 or Erosion and Sediment Control Plan (ESCP) pursuant to the City of Livingston’s MS4
Phase II Permit for construction activities. Prepare an Erosion Control Plan for storm water and
construction BMPs; and

Unless exempt, the developer shall prepare a Dust Control Plan (DCP) and file the Plan with the
San Joaquin Valley Air Pollution Control District for construction activities pursuant to
Regulation VIII (Rules 8011-8081); and

The Developer shall prepare and provide any needed public utility easements and provide all
utility services as required by the City Engineer including meters, backflow preventers, post
indicator valves, floor drains and provide grease interceptors for non-sanitary or floor drain
discharges; and

Unless exempt, the Developer shall prepare and provide volumetric sizing calculations, low
impact development (LID) measures operation and maintenance plan (O&M), and statement of
responsibility agreement for storm water management in accordance with the City of Livingston’s
Post-Construction Standards Plan and pursuant to the City’s Phase Il MS4 Permit requirements;
and

The Developer shall repair any damage to City facilities such as curb, gutter, sidewalk, streets and
alleys caused by construction; and



12.

13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18.

19.

20.

21.

22.

The Developer shall provide ADA accessible path of travel to the building in conformance with
the City of Livingston Improvement Standards, City Engineer requirements, and all other
applicable regulations; and

The Developer shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its officials, officers,
employees, agents, and consultants from any and all legal or administrative actions or other
proceedings challenging this approval or any subsequent approval associated with this project;
and

The development of the site shall be consistent with approved plans, elevations, and colors.
Minor variations from approved plans, elevations, and colors may be allowed at the review and
approval of City staff; and

The Developer and/or Operator shall submit all exterior signs and/or logos for City staff review
and approval consistent with the City’s signage regulations for both wall signs and pole signs;
and

The Developer shall submit final landscape plans for City staff review and approval specifying
plant selection, size and irrigation consistent with the preliminary landscape plan submitted as
part of the application and described in the associated staff report and shall pay the landscape
inspection fee to insure installation was done according to plan; and

Any exterior lighting shall be submitted for City staff review and approval. Such lighting shall be
directed to areas on the subject property itself and shall avoid shinning toward adjacent
properties; and

The Developer shall comply with all requirements of PG&E as it relates to the conversion of the
car wash to a restaurant; and

The Developer and/or Operator shall keep the site free from trash and debris and shall maintain
the premises in a clean and orderly manner; and

The Developer and/or Operator may utilize an outdoor area of the lot for outdoor dining subject
to staff review and administrative approval; and

Informational signage shall be installed to inform users of the business of parking available at the
east side of the site; and

The Developer and/or Operator shall install additional outdoor lighting to illuminate the parking
areas and access to the restaurant subject to staff review and administrative approval.



Bassi Site Plan and Design Review 2019-01

Zoning: C-3, Highway Service Commercial

, L)




Project e ling
BROTHER'S FOOD MART o mm
690 HAMMETT AVE. b
LIVINGSTON, CA 95334 e
(CARWASH/RESTAURANT i
CONVERSION)
(e B
.
m
ey 8
. = 8
HAMMETT AVE.
LANDSCAPING PLAN 17
Ly
S
- BER
TO REMAN (N) DINING m “ m wm m m
3 &= = iy
" _J ft! ‘— J




I ag
\wmﬁs = 2t T, e 4
\ Bk rréreftingenddosign@suticok eom
7 E.;.i.k

m_QIH -

E) BULDING EXT.
\wanno T0 REMAIN

RECEIVED
MAR 2 0 2019

PLANNING

\m.!rozaua
10 REMAN
| /] moln_.r.-:c o
1 .
“ A
AP
W CONTER
REAR
2 a—

v \ 7| #

“ 7 \7 | 7
\eoor 10 AN
REMAN

223-070-2I

JECT FOR: BROTHER'S FOOD MART
620 HAMMETT AVE
LIVINGSTON, CA

I

JOB NOs




STAFF REPORT

AGENDA ITEM: Initiating Proceedings and Ordering the Preliminary Engineer’s Report for
the Annual Levy of Assessments for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 for the Citywide
Consolidated Landscape Maintenance Assessment District No. 1, Approving
the Engineer’s Report, Declaring the City’s Intention to Levy Annual
Assessments for the District, and Appointing a Time and Place for a Public
Hearing

MEETING DATE:  June 4,2019
PREPARED BY: Willdan Financial Services

REVIEWED BY: Jose Antonio Ramirez, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION:

Approve Resolution No. 2019- , Initiating Proceedings and Ordering the Preliminary Engineer’s
Report for the Annual Levy of Assessments for Fiscal Year 2019/2020 for the Citywide Consolidated
Landscape Maintenance Assessment District No. 1, Approving the Engineer’s Report, Declaring the
City’s Intention to Levy Annual Assessments for the District, and Appointing a Time and Place for a
Public Hearing

BACKGROUND:

The City of Livingston annually levies and collects special assessments in the Citywide Consolidated
Landscape Maintenance Assessment District No. 1 (the “District”) to offset the cost of providing the
maintenance of landscape improvements within specific areas of the City. There are currently twenty-six
Benefit Zones (the “Zones”) within the District as follows:

Almond Glen Monte Cristo Estates

Country Glen Vinewood Estates II (Briarwood)
Country Roads Monte Cristo Estates II (Briarwood)
Harvest Manor Kensington Park South (Vineyard Estates)
Vinewood Estates Bridgeport Village

Vintage West Davante Villas

North Residential Country Lane I (Liberty Square)
South Residential Country Lane II (Country Lane, Kishi)
Central Residential Parkside-Forecast

North Commercial Sundance IV (Country Villas IV)
Downtown Commercial Strawberry Fields

South Commercial La Tierra (Rancho Estrada)

Somerset (Sun Valley Estates)
Sundance (Country Villas 1, 2, and 3)



DISCUSSION:

This resolution initiates the annual proceedings for the levy of annual assessments, declares the City’s
intention to levy annual assessments, and preliminarily approves the Engineer’s Report for the District
and Zones.

Since no cost of living adjustments are allowed in the twelve (12) original Zones, the proposed FY
2019/2020 assessments in these Zones will remain the unchanged from the previous year’s assessment
rates. The assessments within the Zones known as Bridgeport Village, Country Lane I (Liberty Square),
Country Lane II (Country Lane, Kishi), Sundance (Country Villas 1, 2, and 3), Davante Villas,
Kensington Park South (Vineyard Estates), La Tierra (Rancho Estrada), Parkside-Forecast, Monte Cristo,
Monte Cristo II (Briarwood), Strawberry Fields, Somerset (Sun Valley Estates), Sundance IV (Country
Villas IV), and Vinewood Estates II (Briarwood) were approved by the property owners pursuant to a
mailed ballot election conducted in accordance with Article XIII D of the California Constitution.

In each fiscal year following these balloted elections, the City Council may impose the assessments in
these Zones at a rate or amount that is less than or equal to the amount authorized for the previous fiscal
year after being increased by the approved annual escalation factor, without conducting another mailed
ballot election. The approved annual escalation factor for these Zones is based upon the Consumer Price
Index, All Urban Consumers, for the San Francisco-Oakland-San Jose Area (“CPI”). The fiscal year
2019/2020 assessment rates within these Zones are proposed to be increased over last year’s rates by
3.865%, which is the percentage increase in the CPI, All Urban Consumers, for the San Francisco-
Oakland-San Jose Area Annual 2018 calculated from Annual 2017.

Pursuant to Proposition 218, The Right to Vote on Taxes Act, new or increased assessments must be
approved by a vote of the owners of the property to be assessed. Since the assessment rates are not to be
increased by any amount other than the approved CPI, there will be no need for a property owner vote.

Following actions will include a public hearing to be set for June 18, 2019. At that time, the Council will
be asked to adopt a resolution confirming assessments and authorizing staff to place the assessments on
the annual tax rolls.

FISCAL IMPACT:

All funding of costs applicable to the benefiting District parcels are borne by the property owners within
the referenced zones, except as noted below. The following zone shows a projected negative beginning
fund balance and/or a projected deficit for fiscal year 2019/2020.

Projected General
Projected Beg Fund (Contribution) /

LMD District Reserve Balance Repayment Total Projected
(7-1-18) (FY 2019-20) Deficit (6-30-20)
Monte Cristo ($892) {$2.950) ($3.842)
ATTACHMENTS:

1. Resolution 2019-
2. Engineer’s Report and Budget



RESOLUTION NO. 2019-

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF LIVINGSTON
INITIATING PROCEEDINGS AND ORDERING THE PRELIMINARY ENGINEER’S REPORT FOR
THE ANNUAL LEVY OF ASSESSMENTS FOR FISCAL YEAR 2019/2020 FOR THE CITYWIDE
CONSOLIDATED LANDSCAPE MAINTENANCE ASSESSMENT DISTRICT NO. 1, APPROVING THE
ENGINEER’S REPORT, DECLARING THE CITY’S INTENTION TO LEVY ANNUAL ASSESSMENTS
FOR THE DISTRICT, AND APPOINTING A TIME AND PLACE FOR A PUBLIC HEARING

WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Livingston, pursuant to the provisions of the
Landscaping and Lighting Act of 1972, being division 15 of the Streets and Highways Code of
the State of California (the "Act"), desires to initiate proceedings for the City of Livingston’s
Citywide Consolidated Landscape Maintenance Assessment District No. 1 (the "District") and
Benefit Zones (the “Zones™) and for the levy and collection of assessments within the District
and Zones for the fiscal year 2019/2020, for the purposes provided thereof in the Act; and

WHEREAS, the public interest and convenience require the City to initiate proceedings for the
levy of annual assessments within the District and Zones for the fiscal year 2019/2020, for the
purposes provided thereof in the Act; and

WHEREAS, Section 22622 of the Act requires the City to adopt a resolution generally
describing any proposed new improvements or any substantial changes in the existing
improvements and ordering the Engineer to prepare and file a report in accordance with Article 4
of the Act.

WHEREAS, as a condition of original approvals for development within the City of Livingston
(hereinafter referred to as the “City”), the City has required that developers install landscape
improvements adjacent to their Projects, and that the landscaping and related improvements be
installed to a standard acceptable to the City, and that developers provide a means satisfactory to
the City for assuring the continued maintenance, operation, and servicing of the Improvement
Areas and improvements thereto; and

WHEREAS, the City has installed landscaping and improvements in the form of parks, located
throughout the City in addition to develo